

Delft University of Technology

### Personalized support for well-being at work

## an overview of the SWELL project

Kraaij, Wessel; Verberne, Suzan; Koldijk, Saskia; de Korte, Elsbeth; van Dantzig, Saskia; Sappelli, Maya; Hulsebosch, Bob; Wabeke, Thymen; Neerincx, Mark; More Authors

DOI 10.1007/s11257-019-09238-3

**Publication date** 2019

**Document Version** Final published version

Published in User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction

Citation (APA) Kraaij, W., Verberne, S., Koldijk, S., de Korte, E., van Dantzig, S., Sappelli, M., Hulsebosch, B., Wabeke, T., Neerincx, M., & More Authors (2019). Personalized support for well-being at work: an overview of the SWELL project. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, 30(3), 413-446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11257-019-09238-3

### Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

**Copyright** Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

### Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



# Personalized support for well-being at work: an overview of the SWELL project

Wessel Kraaij, et al. [full author details at the end of the article]

Received: 4 August 2018 / Accepted in revised form: 3 June 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

### Abstract

Recent advances in wearable sensor technology and smartphones enable simple and affordable collection of personal analytics. This paper reflects on the lessons learned in the SWELL project that addressed the design of user-centered ICT applications for self-management of vitality in the domain of knowledge workers. These workers often have a sedentary lifestyle and are susceptible to mental health effects due to a high workload. We present the sense–reason–act framework that is the basis of the SWELL approach and we provide an overview of the individual studies carried out in SWELL. In this paper, we revisit our work on *reasoning*: interpreting raw heterogeneous sensor data, and *acting*: providing personalized feedback to support behavioural change. We conclude that simple affordable sensors can be used to classify user behaviour and heath status in a physically non-intrusive way. The interpreted data can be used to inform personalized feedback strategies. Further longitudinal studies can now be initiated to assess the effectiveness of m-Health interventions using the SWELL methods.

Keywords Quantified self  $\cdot$  m-Health  $\cdot$  Privacy  $\cdot$  Behavioural change  $\cdot$  Context aware systems  $\cdot$  Personalization

### Contents

| 1 | Introduction  |  |
|---|---|--|
|   | Motivation and key concepts                                       |  |
|   | 2.1 Well-being at work, an occupational health perspective        |  |
|   | 2.2 The SWELL approach: Sense–Reason–Act                          |  |
|   | 2.3 Privacy user study and value-sensitive design                 |  |
| 3 | Prior work  |  |
|   | 3.1 Reflective practice: learning based on reflection             |  |
|   | 3.2 Agents for supporting office work tasks and behavioral change |  |
|   |   |  |

☑ Wessel Kraaij w.kraaij@liacs.leidenuniv.nl

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

|    | 3.3 Interpreting behaviour at work using non-intrusive sensors                         |  |
|----|--|--|
|    | 3.4 Personalized feedback and coaching   |  |
| 4  | Methods and results: personalized well-being support tools                             |  |
|    | 4.1 The SWELL knowledge work dataset   |  |
|    | 4.2 Reason: classifying work behaviour and activities                                  |  |
|    | 4.2.1 Visual analytics of work behavior data   |  |
|    | 4.2.2 Work behaviour classification  |  |
|    | 4.2.3 Classification of physical activities  |  |
|    | 4.3 Act: case studies on behavioral feedback and coaching through mHealth applications |  |
|    | 4.3.1 mBeats: Improving cardio-respiratory fitness through a smartphone app            |  |
|    | 4.3.2 Evaluating the Brightr app for health promotion at work                          |  |
|    | 4.3.3 Fishualization: group feedback at work   |  |
|    | 4.4 Personalization  |  |
|    | 4.4.1 NiceWork: tailored lifestyle coaching during the workday                         |  |
|    | 4.4.2 Personalizing activity intervention programs                                     |  |
|    | 4.4.3 Personalization based on constructs from theories on behavioral change           |  |
| 5  | Discussion   |  |
|    | 5.1 Contemporary related work  |  |
|    | 5.2 Lessons learned  |  |
| 6  | Conclusion and future work   |  |
| Re | eferences  |  |

### 1 Introduction

Through the increased digitalization of our society, working habits are gradually changing. These changes especially affect the work conditions of so-called *knowl-edge workers*, such as software engineers, architects, research scientists, accountants, lawyers and project managers, whose job primarily involves handling or using information. For these professionals, it is now possible to work everywhere, all the time: at the office, during transit, at home, using mobile devices and cloud services. It is not clear yet whether or how these new work habits affect workers' *well being*, since the reduction of time for resting and/or physical activity in combination with the increased demands that workers are facing can potentially lead to burn-out or physical problems.

Well-being is a key concept in the WHO definition of health: "Health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity." (WHO 1948). In the Netherlands in 2015, one out of seven employees reported monthly burn-out symptoms at some point in their career (Hooftman et al. 2016). In 2017, the incidence increased to one out of six employees (16%). Improving the well-being of knowledge workers (and controlling the cost of sick leaves) is of high importance for employers and society. At the same time, workers themselves have a personal interest and motivation to prevent negative consequences of imbalanced working habits, but often need guidance and support to achieve this balance.

Personal tracking devices and wireless networking technology, including smartphones and wrist devices, have been regarded as a highly promising platform for supporting health behavior change (IJsselsteijn et al. 2006). Indeed, the sensing technology for recording personal behaviour/vitals data using e.g. acclerometry or photophletysmography has rapidly matured. However so far, effective use of this abundant data has been challenging. Critical elements are

- processing the raw sensor data in higher level, interpretable labels, related to the personal context;
- dealing with noise and artefacts and the large dynamic range of signals;
- taking into account intra- and inter-personal differences and variance for interpreting the data;
- designing a data storage and processing architecture that allows for flexible aggregation of information and data, while providing personalized privacy protection strategies;
- providing personalized coaching strategies, taking into account context, personal preferences;
- optimizing coaching by learning from historical data of the individual coachee and/or similar other coachees.

### The SWELL project

The SWELL project<sup>1</sup> [2011–2017] had the objective to develop m-Health applications by applying human centered design techniques, involving sensing and reasoning techniques, grounded in theory, that help to improve the well-being of knowledge workers. SWELL was a large collaborative research project between several universities, companies and research institutes in the Netherlands, each individual study contributing to the project goal at large. This paper aims to give an integrated overview of what has been achieved and provides recommendations for follow-up research.

### A multidisciplinary perspective

The SWELL project brought together multiple disciplines: social sciences, computer science, human computer interaction, and data governance. The consortium's goal was to develop applications that enable the use of data captured by a combination of sensors to a) reason on the gathered data in a smart and context aware way; b) to provide insight into their behaviour and determinants for well-being at work, and c) to develop personalized feedback and coaching strategies to change behavior. The project was structured by individual studies, linked to particular needs and expertises of the partners in this public-private collaboration:

- a method to capture work-context in an unsupervised fashion, by analyzing raw keyboard and mouse interaction (Sappelli et al. 2016);
- methods to apply the work-context to provide context-sensitive (personalized) search engine functionality (Verberne et al. 2014)
- a design method for context aware systems, that takes into account non-functional requirements such as privacy concerns and user autonomy (Koldijk et al. 2014a, 2016);
- analysis of the efficacy of posture and facial expression analysis for stress assessment (Koldijk et al. 2016);
- a method for classifying activities using accelerometers in smartphones (Shoaib et al. 2014b);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> cf. www.swell-project.net—funded under the Dutch national COMMIT/ programme for use inspired IT and data science research.

- a protocol-free method for measuring cardiovascular fitness with a wristband (Rospo et al. 2016);
- a method for designing user friendly privacy controls (Bokhove et al. 2012)
- strategies on how to support people in how to increase their self efficacy for changing behavior (Achterkamp et al. 2018);
- a method to design the context sensitive reasoning component of mHealth coaching apps (Bosems and van Sinderen 2015);
- a mixed method evaluation of an m-Health app developed in SWELL (de Korte et al. 2018b).

This paper puts the results of the individual studies in the larger context of developing personalized adaptive systems driven by sensor data, and provides an overview what has been achieved and which new questions have been identified. We think that a multidisciplinary view on the challenges outlined above is important, since most related work has a more restricted scope. The lessons learned from our project do have an impact for the development of mHealth and pervasive support technology, which has gained a large momentum in recent years.

### Research questions

This paper is a reflection on the high-level research questions of the SWELL project, bringing together insights from the various studies that have been carried out in the project and specify directions for future research. The high-level research questions that motivated the SWELL project were:

- RQ 1 To what extent is it possible to recognize (**sense and classify**) physical human activities and work behavior of knowledge workers using a combination of non-obtrusive, affordable and easy-to-obtain sensors?
- RQ 1 How can we design **personalized feedback and coaching** provided by mHealth applications to knowledge workers using theories of behavioral change and make these tools more context aware?

Clearly, continuous monitoring of work behaviour and health status results in a rather sensitive dataset. It is therefore important to engage users in the design of m-Health applications and data storage in order to gain and maintain trust. In SWELL, we followed a value-sensitive design aproach to deal with privacy aspects.

### **Contributions**

The main contributions of the SWELL project are: (1) to our knowledge, the SWELL project was the first project to address mHealth for well-being at work from a multidisciplinary view, addressing both mental and physical well-being aspects; (2) we have shown the potential of affordable and easily available sensors for sensing and classifying user activity data; (3) our methodology is user-centered, with an important role for context-sensitivity and personalization; (4) in the design of our technology, privacy and user autonomy are integrated in the design process as important aspects of mHealth applications.

In the following sections, we first specify our motivation and key concepts (Sect. 2). Next, we describe prior and related work (Sect. 3). In Sect. 4, we present SWELL

technnologies and prototypes as instantiations, according to the sense-reason-act framework. This is followed by a discussion of the lessons learned in Sect. 5 and our conclusions in Sect. 6.

### 2 Motivation and key concepts

In this section we first provide further background on the factors that determine wellbeing at work, linking our work to the literature in occupational health (Sect. 2.1). Subsequently, we introduce our approach to provide workers with tools to empower them in self-regulating their well-being based on the *sense-reason-act* framework (Sect. 2.2). Finally, we summarize our research on privacy impact assessment and privacy aware design of m-Health tools (Sect. 2.3).

### 2.1 Well-being at work, an occupational health perspective

This paper is centered around two causes of work-related health risk factors in knowledge workers: (A) stress and (B) low physical activity. We summarize relevant studies from an occupational health perspective that provided a point of departure for our project:

(A) Knowledge workers often experience *stress* caused by high work demands. They experience a high workload that can be difficult to manage and may impact mental well-being (Michie 2002; Kalimo 1999). Not all stress is harmful: Seyle (1975) distinguishes positive and negative stress (eustress and distress). An environmental stressor causes a particular perception of the stressor in the individual. This can lead to acute physiological stress responses and, on the long run to long term physical, cognitive, emotional and behavioral stress consequences. The relation between job demands and resources determines how stressors influence the experience of stress. This is formalized in the Job Resources–Demands model, Demerouti et al. (2001). How the experience of stress can lead to long term stress consequences is determined by the amount of recovery. This is formalized in the Effort–Recovery model, Meijman et al. (1998).

In SWELL, we study (a) the measurement of stress, (b) innovative technology to decrease information overload [an important stress inducing factor (Edmunds and Morris 2000)] as well as (c) personalized and group interventions that help to reduce or control stress levels, e.g. by providing feedback on the correlation between tasks and stress levels.

(B) The second cause of work-related health risks that we address is *low physical activity*. The majority of office workers do not meet the WHO physical activity guidelines for physical activity and fitness.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, desk workers spend 65–75% of their working hours sitting (Buckley et al. 2015). Recent literature shows that such sedentary behavior may lead to metabolic syndrome, a cluster of conditions associated with an elevated risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes type II (Lee et al. 2010; Greer et al. 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.medibank.com.au/Client/Documents/pdfs/Stan\_Up\_Australia.pdf, http://www.alphagalil eo.org/ViewItem.aspx?ItemId=115991\&CultureCode=en.

To prevent these harmful effects, office workers should engage in sufficient physical activity at moderate and high intensity, and avoid long sedentary periods. The WHO recommendation for physical activity is to perform at least 30 min of moderate intense activity per day. The Dutch Fitnorm (NationaalKompas 2015) recommends 20 min of vigorous exercise for 3 days a week to improve cardiorespiratory fitness. Although there are no official guidelines yet with respect to sedentary behavior, initial recommendations were drawn up by an expert panel (Buckley et al. 2015). They recommend that desk workers perform at least 2 h of standing or light walking during work hours, eventually progressing to a total of 4 h per day. Furthermore, prolonged periods of sitting should be avoided. An additional argument for exercising more is the fact that substantial evidence exists that moderate physical exercise has a positive influence on mental well-being (Fox 1999).

In SWELL, we investigated methods to measure cardiovascular fitness without performing a protocal and feedback methods aiming at increased physical activity at work.

### 2.2 The SWELL approach: Sense-Reason-Act

The goal of the SWELL project was to design mHealth applications supporting people in maintaining physical and mental well-being at work. The following hypothesis was taken as a starting point for the project:

Self-monitoring (recording activities and mental/physical state of humans across a long period of time) can be used to improve well-being of knowledge workers, by improving self efficacy and self-knowledge as well as by providing support for behavioral change.

The approach that we took throughout the project is user-centered and contextaware. By user-centered we actually refer to three elements: (i) we used a user-centered design method; (ii) to develop a tailored or personalized intervention; (iii) where the user is in full control of the collected personal data. Personalized is adaptation to the individual level; tailored is adaptation to a certain subgroup which shares common characteristics, but which is more well defined than the general population. By contextaware, we mean that detecting context with sensors and contextual reasoning are central elements in the design, in order to improve the usability and effectiveness of the intervention. We infer mental states, physical activity and health behavior from sensor data, collected with affordable, non intrusive sensors. Our solutions are grounded in models from work stress psychology and theories of health behavior.

Pervasive technology (cheap networked sensors and mobile platforms) offers several opportunities to learning patterns and behaviour from on personal data. Sensors can be used for comprehensive self-monitoring of activities and health states, with a low effort and in an objective way. Sensors can also be used to contextualize physiological state data (think of physical and social context). The difference between personal goals and actual measured activities can subsequently function as an input for personalized coaching. Here, context data can be used to improve the relevance of suggestions and the timing of coaching messages.



RQ2: How can we design personalized feedback and coaching provided by mHealth applications to knowledge workers using theories of behavioral change and make these tools more context aware? RQ1: To what extent is it possible to recognize physical human activities and work behavior of knowledge workers using a combination of non-obtrusive affordable and easy-to-obtain sensors?

Fig. 1 Conceptual view of SWELL following the sense-reason-act framework

With the development of prototypes in SWELL we followed the *sense-reason-act* framework (Kokar and Reveliotis 1993). This is illustrated in Fig. 1. Central component in this diagram is a human. The human is tracked by multiple sensors at a high frequency. In addition, subjective self assessments regarding experienced energy level are added to the data stream.

- The 'sense' research focuses on interpreting the human activity, mental and physical condition on the basis of a combination of various types of low cost unobtrusive sensors. This challenge includes designing a multi aspect user model, filled with the personal analytics derived from the raw sensor data.
- The 'reason' challenge is to learn personalized predictive models relating outcomes to specific activities. This is the type of data that can be the starting point for providing the user feedback to reach their behavioural goals.
- The reasoning engine can now compare the state of the user with his goals and generate a tailored recommendation 'act', taking into account the context.

### 2.3 Privacy user study and value-sensitive design

Proper handling of sensitive personal data is crucial for the adoption of the type of technology that is envisioned by the SWELL project. This includes a secure data storage, mechanisms for sharing (aggregated) analytics with health professionals or peers. To address this, we propose to develop context-aware systems with situated Cognitive Engineering (sCE) (Neerincx and Lindenberg 2008; Neerincx 2011). With sCE it is possible to combine theory on work stress with technological possibilities, taking into account input on the situated user needs.

Context-aware systems collect personal data in order to provide contextualized and personalized support. Tension may arise between technological possibilities of building rich user models and concerns that users might have, in particular regarding privacy. Current development methods do not (yet) address this tension, i.e., there



**Fig. 2** Overview of data flow, user model and controls for SWELL prototypes, which holds information on the user's work context, and the user's well-being. Moreover, information on the private context outside of work may be included. Most important in the design is the aspect of user control (See Sect. 2.3)

is a lack of a compact and coherent method that balances functionality and privacy needs. Therefore, we refined sCE on two aspects: (1) defining the functional architecture with context and user-modeling components, and (2) integrating non-functional requirements into the (functional) requirements baseline. Our refined sCE has five complementary design guidelines, which we applied to the design of the SWELL applications (Koldijk et al. 2016).

An important goal in the first phase of the SWELL project was to collect user demands. We focused on privacy as important aspect of user concerns. During a workshop with potential users we first identified 15 separate requirements on desired functionality. When a first full system design was specified, users were specifically asked about hurdles to use the system. This yielded additional (non-functional) system, usability, quality, privacy and security requirements. The privacy impact assessment by Wright (2012) was then used to specifically formulate privacy requirements. We also identified several privacy requirements that were not mentioned by users themselves. These privacy requirements were addressed by eight privacy design strategies (Hoepman 2014). We integrated the outcome into the high-level architecture (Fig. 2).

As a last step, we evaluated in a user study whether information on privacy by design has a positive impact on users' trust and attitude towards using the system (Koldijk et al. 2014a). We found that information about implemented privacy by design and data protection methods had a positive effect on perceived privacy and trust in our system. We also found that the attitude towards using our system was mainly related to personal motivation, not to perceived privacy and trust.

### **3 Prior work**

In this section, we review related work that provided a point of departure at the start of the project (2011). We found inspiration in insights from the psychology of learning and motivate that pervasive technology has a natural role for personalized support (Sect. 3.1). In Sect. 3.2 we review some early works on agent-based support of knowledge workers and derive some lessons learned. These early works provide guidance how to situate pervasive technology in a complex human-agent setting. Sections 3.3 and 3.4 discuss a selection of related work that was taken as a starting point for the work on RQ1 and RQ2 respectively. Related relevant work that was published in parallel to the project (in the period 2011–2017) and beyond, is referenced in the discussion section of this paper (Sect. 5).

### 3.1 Reflective practice: learning based on reflection

In SWELL, we set out to design agent technology that would be accepted by knowledge workers interested in improving their well-being. The SWELL vision has partly been inspired by the theory of reflective practice (Schön 1983). Schön advocates reflection on experience as the basis for learning. Important (pre-digital era) recommendations for reflective practice are:

- 1. keeping a journal;
- 2. seeking feedback;
- 3. view experiences objectively;
- 4. taking time at the end of each day, meeting etc. to reflect on actions and consequences.

We believe that some of these recommended activities could be delegated to a digital personal assistant, especially activities that are difficult for humans:

- 1. record activities systematically and objectively, with contextual cues;
- 2. provide insight in actual time spent on activities (in order to improve estimates for required time as an input for planning).
- 3. balance short term and long term optimization (quantifying effect of activity on long term health goals).

In SWELL we have experimented with logging computer interaction in context in combination with physiological measurements in order to get a better grip on activities and their interaction with mental well-being.

### 3.2 Agents for supporting office work tasks and behavioral change

The idea of intelligent digital agents supporting humans has been developed during the last few decades of the twentieth century. Maes (1994) reviews these early works. She makes a distinction between rule based agents (which have to be created and activated by the user) and knowledge based agents containing a user model, a domain model and agents based on machine learning techniques. The rule and knowledge

based agents have their roots in classical knowledge based AI, and rely on a significant amount of work by a knowledge engineer. The machine learning based agent approach relies on the idea that an agent can learn from observing the user and perhaps some form of feedback. This approach might be effective for simple tasks that have to be done frequently (such as sorting and prioritizing email). The metaphor for such an approach is a digital personal assistant that learns from observation and instructions. The presumed advantage is that such agents can learn and adapt over time.

Maes describes several prototypes based on this approach: news filtering and memory based action prediction in email handling. While these prototypes at MIT have only been tested by a small set of users, many of us have experience with intelligent agents that were developed in the 1990s for use in the office. Examples are 'Clippy', the digital assistant for Microsoft office, and Workpace, the digital assistant helping to avoid RSI. Both applications have been received rather critically. Several reasons can be pointed out: Workpace did not take into account the work context of the user in providing timings for wrist exercises, overruling the individuals autonomy. Clippy did trigger on particular contexts and offered "help". Horvitz et al. (1998) describes the research project 'Lumiere' in which personal agent prototypes for Clippy have been developed that learn user intents and needs by observing interaction. The actual agent implementation in MS Office 1997 was far simpler and lost its ability to learn from feedback.

The disappointing experience with these early digital support agents in the office has demonstrated the importance of (a) respecting the autonomy of the user, (b) capturing context, (c) learning from user feedback, and (d) the potential of agent technology based on machine learning. The latter technology is rapidly advancing recently, due to deep learning and reinforcement learning breakthrough technology.

### 3.3 Interpreting behaviour at work using non-intrusive sensors

Knowledge workers rely on software for communication, information gathering, document creation and work planning, so a vast collection of digital traces is left behind on their computer. These are available in the form of mouse motion, click events, key presses and active window changes. We hypothesized that these traces can be used to automatically infer what task a user is currently performing. In this way we automatically create a real-time overview of tasks for the user in an unobtrusive way.

In the field of activity recognition, various computer activities can be automatically classified, for example activities in an adventure game (Albrecht et al. 1997) or filling in a form or planning a meeting (Rath et al. 2009). These activities have rather clear structures, involving predefined steps (Natarajan et al. 2008). Therefore, often model-based classification is applied, with logical models assuming a plan library (e.g. Goldman et al. 1997) or Markov models, modelling the sequence of actions in time (e.g. Albrecht et al. 1997). Moreover, most models have been applied to simple problems in a controlled environment. SWELL models have been tested in a less constrained environment. In addition to the interaction with the computer, a worker's activities can also be monitored using wearables. Within SWELL, a literature review of approaches to physical activity recognition was performed (Shoaib et al. 2015b).

Finally, several types of sensors can be used to estimate stress or arousal. Most often, body sensors are used to measure the physiological stress response directly. For a general overview of psycho-physiological sensor techniques we refer to Matthews et al. (2005). Most studies report on experimental environments, since this new technology is hardly deployed yet in work environments. E.g. it is possible to perform MRI measurements or invasive microdialysis to have a continuous measure of cortisol. However, we are interested to estimate stress in the workplace. Given the availability of cheap wearable sensors, ECG and GSR measurements would be interesting to look at. Mokhayeri et al. (2011), for example, collected such data in context of the Stroop color-word test. They state that pupil diameter and ECG have great potential for stress detection. Bakker et al. (2012) e.g. measured skin conductance of 5 employees during working hours.

### 3.4 Personalized feedback and coaching

When the actual behaviour and health status as monitored by sensors differs from the desired situation as specified by a human, m-Health applications can help as motivational tool to achieve behavioural change. People may know that particular behavior may be good for them, but still they may sustain their old behavior. Fogg (2002) identified three main hurdles preventing humans to perform the right or healthy behavior: lack of ability, lack of motivation and lack of a well-timed trigger. The interventions should be designed in a way that they address these hurdles. However, so far, the vast majority focused on accurate objective monitoring of physical activity and as such, it still remains unclear how exactly to provide the most effective feedback based on these accurate measurements.

Op den Akker et al. (2014) categorize the possibilities to provide information to individual users of real-time, technology-supported physical activity applications in seven types of tailoring—feedback, inter-human interaction, adaptation, user targeting, goal setting, context awareness, and self-learning—and show that adaptation, i.e. tailoring of feedback based on individuals' scores on constructs from behavioral sciences, is rarely applied in modern-day, mobile physical activity applications. Non -technologysupported physical activity interventions however do frequently apply such theories and models from behavioral sciences that describe the constructs thought to underlie behavioral change to determine the content of feedback and other information (Conner and Norman 2005). Based on this it was concluded that much more insight is needed into the effective strategies to be used in mobile, technology-supported physical activity applications that are effective in supporting individuals in a personalized way in reaching behavioral changes.

### 4 Methods and results: personalized well-being support tools

In this section we present the tools that we developed and evaluated in SWELL. First, in Sect. 4.1, we present the SWELL knowledge work dataset with multimodal registrations of work behaviour in a lab setting. In the remainder of the section we present a number of studies carried out in SWELL, including the results obtained in those studies. From the sense-reason-act framework, our focus is on reason and act, with special attention for personalization aspects. In Sect. 4.2 ('reason') we describe the methods that we developed for data analysis and the results obtained. In Sect. 4.3 ('act'), we present three SWELL tools that provide feedback to the user based on recognized activities. In Sect. 4.4, we present the results of studies that particularly addressed personalization in mHealth applications.

### 4.1 The SWELL knowledge work dataset

For research on stress and user modeling, and for evaluating our methods, we collected a new multimodal data set, the SWELL knowledge work (SWELL-KW) dataset. The data were collected in a lab setting, in which 25 people performed typical knowledge work (writing reports, making presentations, reading e-mail, searching for information). We manipulated working conditions with a number of stressors: email interruptions and time pressure. A heterogeneous set of data was recorded: computer interaction logging, facial expression from camera recordings (using Noldus Facereader software), body postures from a Kinect 3D sensor, heart rate (variability) and skin conductance from body sensors. The user's interactions with their computer were logged using the uLog software developed by Noldus.<sup>3</sup> uLog is a key-logging tool that records the active application, window title, url or file that is open, caption information, mouse movements, mouse clicks and keyboard activity with timestamps.

The participants' subjective experience on task load, mental effort, emotion and perceived stress was assessed with validated questionnaires and distributed together with the behavioral data. The resulting dataset is available to other researchers (Koldijk et al. 2014b; Sappelli et al. 2014).<sup>4</sup> A recent study based on the SWELL-KW dataset confirmed the importance of posture for predicting self-assessed stress levels, and also showed computer use patterns as an important predictor for frustration (arousal) (Alberdi et al. 2018a).

### 4.2 Reason: classifying work behaviour and activities

In this section, we discuss three methods for data analysis that we implemented in the SWELL project: visual analytics of work behavior data (Sect. 4.2.1), work behaviour classification (Sect. 4.2.2), and classification of physical activities (Sect. 4.2.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.noldus.com.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://easy.dans.knaw.nl/ui/datasets/id/easy-dataset:586241.

Personalized support for well-being at work: an overview...



Fig. 3 A heat map of facial activity data of 2 participants. Different facial regions show changes in activity



Fig. 4 HapFACS avatar displaying different facial expressions of one participant while working

### 4.2.1 Visual analytics of work behavior data

We want to provide knowledge workers insight in their work behavior and how this relates to their well-being. Therefore, we explored visual analytics techniques to investigate how sensor data can be used to gain insight into work behavior, specifically related to stress at work. In an iterative approach, we combined automatic data analysis procedures with visualization techniques, to gain deeper insight into the data (Koldijk et al. 2015).

We found that of all the features we investigated, facial expression features were most closely related to mental effort. There are, however, many individual differences. By means of a heat map we were able to visualize meaningful patterns in facial activity for an individual user (see Fig. 3). The visualization was made more insightful by rendering facial expressions on an avatar (see Fig. 4), by-passing the issue of dealing with privacy of subjects. Finally, we identified several facial expressions that are typically related to a low or high mental effort (Koldijk et al. 2015). We conclude that facial expressions may be a promising measurable outward characteristic that can be visualized to indicate mental state patterns during work.

The benefit of incorporating visual analytics to our problem, instead of a black box machine learning approach, was to gather a deeper understanding of the structures in our data and to gain insights from individual users' data. The final aim is to develop a visualization system for individual users that gives insight in a large amount of (self) behavioral data recorded with sensors. Visualizing such behavioral patterns may give users insight and actionable information.

### 4.2.2 Work behaviour classification

With the increasing amount of information knowledge workers have to handle, they can get overwhelmed easily: a phenomenon referred to as 'information overload' (Bawden and Robinson 2009). It has been shown in previous work that 'working in context' is beneficial for knowledge workers (Gomez-Perez et al. 2009; Warren 2013). Ardissono and Bosio (2012) have found that task-based and context-based filtering reduce the user's workload. Thus, by recommending and highlighting information that is relevant to the context, while blocking information that is out-of-context, we help the user to stay focused on his current task.

For the purpose of modeling the user's work activities in context, we have developed a novel model for context *recognition* and *identification*, based on the interactive activation and competition model (IA model) by McClelland and Rumelhart (1981). Our *Contextual Interactive Activation model* (CIA) has two main applications (Sappelli et al. 2016). In the first application the network recognizes and interprets what the user is doing, by interpreting keyboard and mouse actions, classifying the user's activities into the projects the user is involved in. The knowledge worker can get an overview of when he worked on what project and for how long. This can support him in his time management and can simplify the task of hour tracking. Evaluation on the SWELL-KW dataset showed that our model can correctly identify a worker's context (out of 8 different contexts) for 65% of the work time, which is significantly better than traditional classification methods using the same input data.

### 4.2.3 Classification of physical activities

Apart from recognizing work contexts, we also developed models for recognizing physical activities. This is a first step in advising users on their physical activity patterns.

To recognize physical activities, we utilized mobile phone sensors. As a first step, we investigated the classification of seven human activities at five body positions (Shoaib et al. 2013, 2014b). These activities are walking, biking, jogging, walking upstairs, walking downstairs, sitting and standing. In (Shoaib et al. 2013, 2014b), we show that these activities can be recognized in a reliable way using mobile phone motion sensors.

Moreover, we evaluated the effect of combining various sensors, their position, sampling rate, data features, and classification algorithms on recognition performance of these activities. Based on this analysis, we recommend guidelines on how and when to use various mobile phone sensors for better activity recognition. We also conducted an extensive survey on online activity recognition using mobile phones. In this work, we discuss various aspects of real-time recognition systems that are implemented on mobile devices. (Shoaib et al. 2015a, b).

As follow-up on the study with mobile phone sensors, we combined motion sensors from mobile phones and wrist-worn devices to recognize relatively complex human activities such as smoking, eating, working on computer, writing, giving a talk, and having a cup of coffee (Shoaib et al. 2015c). We show that thirteen human activities including these complex ones can be recognized with a reasonable accuracy, ranging

from 84% accuracy for talking to 99% accuracy for writing. These results contribute to detecting bad habits in our daily life such as smoking or lack of physical activity.

For reproducibility purposes, we have made our tool and collected datasets publicly available (Shoaib et al. 2014a).

### Summary of SWELL methods for classifying work behaviour and activities

In this section we showed how we can recognize human activities and work behavior using a combination of non-obtrusive, affordable and easy-to-obtain sensors. We can distinguish thirteen different types of physical activities with reasonable accuracy using mobile phone sensors and wrist-worn devices; we can recognize mental state patterns from facial expressions recorded with a webcam; and we can recognize the tasks and topics the user is involved in using the user's computer activities such as keystrokes and active applications.

## 4.3 Act: case studies on behavioral feedback and coaching through mHealth applications

In this section we discuss three type of tools that advice users on their behaviour. We present a smartphone application guiding the user with a novel heart-rate based training method (Sect. 4.3.1); we evaluate a personal e-coach giving advice on for work behavior (Sect. 4.3.2); and we present a group feedback panel that mirrors work behavior on the department level (Sect. 4.3.3).

### 4.3.1 mBeats: Improving cardio-respiratory fitness through a smartphone app

Cardio-respiratory fitness is an important factor in the prevention of cardiovascular diseases. In order to improve cardio-respiratory fitness, one needs to engage in sufficient physical activity at an adequate intensity. Currently, only 24% of the Dutch adult population meets the recommended amount of physical activity required for a healthy cardio-respiratory fitness. Many people decide to enroll in the gym or take up sports to get into shape or stay fit. However, for various reasons, not everybody is able to maintain this commitment (DellaVigna and Malmendier 2006).

For those who want to become or stay fit, but fail to attend a gym regularly, connected fitness applications could be a solution. We tested the effectiveness of a novel heartrate based training method, implemented in a smartphone application, *mBeats*. This method determines a personalized heart rate training zone for each individual and advises users to accumulate a certain number of target heart beats on a daily and weekly basis. The training method was implemented in a smartphone app, connected to a Mio Alpha heart rate watch. The mBeats app provides users with a personalized training program and continuous feedback based on their performance. For a detailed description of the mBeats app, we refer to Thomassen (2013).

For evaluating the effectiveness of the app, we compared three groups of participants who followed different training methods during two weeks. The first group used our method implemented in the mBeats smartphone application (*app group*). In the second group participants followed the same training method as offered by the app, but were supervised by a qualified trainer in a gym (*gym group*). Participants in the third group

followed a program offered by Fitbit aimed at taking 10.000 steps per day (*Fitbit group*). In all three groups, we observed improvements in cardio-respiratory fitness and related health markers, such as blood pressure and heart rate (Rospo et al. 2016).

Thus, the mBeats app seems a promising and easy-to-use method to improve cardiorespiratory fitness, delivering similar results as existing methods. Moreover, in the app group these results were reached with a lower number of steps than in the gym group, suggesting that our training was more efficient. The main benefit of our novel method is that it is easily incorporated in daily life. Rather than having to go to the gym after work, office workers can accumulate target heart beats during their work day, by taking the stairs, taking a lunch walk or cycling to work. In the long run, this will likely lead to better adherence and better results than a gym-based training.

### 4.3.2 Evaluating the Brightr app for health promotion at work

The Brightr app is an mHealth application developed for workers at a high tech company to improve their vitality. We evaluated version 1.0 of the Brightr app with two groups of users (de Korte et al. 2018a, b): a focus group of workers and a focus group of experts: behavioral scientists, sociology experts, ergonomists, designers and HCI researchers.

The objectives of this study were to gain insight into (1) the opinions and experiences of employees and experts on drivers and barriers using an mHealth app in the working context and (2) the added value of three different qualitative methods that are available to evaluate mHealth apps in a working context: interviews with employees, focus groups with employees, and a focus group with experts.

Employees of a high-tech company and experts were asked to use the Brightr app for at least 3 weeks before participating in a qualitative evaluation. Twenty-two employees participated in interviews, 15 employees participated in three focus groups, and 6 experts participated in one focus group. Two researchers independently coded, categorized, and analyzed all quotes yielded from these evaluation methods with a codebook using constructs from user satisfaction and technology acceptance theories (Vosbergen et al. 2014; Wixom and Todd 2005; Bailey and Pearson 1983).

Interviewing employees yielded 785 quotes, focus groups with employees yielded 266 quotes, and the focus group with experts yielded 132 quotes. Overall, participants muted enthusiasm about the app. Combined results from the three evaluation methods showed drivers and barriers for technology, user characteristics, context, privacy, and autonomy. A comparison between the three qualitative methods showed that issues revealed by experts only slightly overlapped with those expressed by employees. In addition, it was seen that the type of evaluation yielded different results.

Findings from this study provide the following recommendations for organizations that are planning to provide mHealth apps to their workers and for developers of mHealth apps: (1) system performance influences adoption and adherence, (2) relevancy and benefits of the mHealth app should be clear to the user and should address users' characteristics, (3) app should take into account the work context, and (4) employees should be alerted to their right to privacy and use of personal data. Furthermore, a qualitative evaluation of mHealth apps in a work setting might benefit from combining more than one method. Factors to consider when selecting a qualitative



Fig. 5 Fishualization display (including legend)

research method are the design, development stage, and implementation of the app; the working context in which it is being used; employees' mental models; practicability; resources; and skills required of experts and users. (de Korte et al. 2018b)

### 4.3.3 Fishualization: group feedback at work

Fishualization (Schavemaker et al. 2014) is a novel intervention that maps humancomputer activity data to a group feedback display on the basis of a combination of various types of unobtrusive, low-level sensors (Fig. 5).

The goal of Fishualization is to give employees insight into their working habits and to stimulate social interactions, group awareness and openness, which are all beneficial for well-being at work. The Fishualization feedback display shows visualizations of the state or mood of an entire team of knowledge workers. One avatar (fish) is shown for each employee. Each avatar has three degrees of freedom that are controlled by aggregated sensor measurements of an individual team member:

- The movements (fast or slow) are controlled by activity level.
- Upon change of application focus the fish changes its swimming direction;
- The position (high or low) is controlled by mental energy.

'Plants' at the bottom of the screen represent a group of tasks of the same type, for example, writing e-mail, editing document, browsing, or preparing presentation. Activity level and focus are derived from logging keystrokes, mouse movement and application usage on user devices (see Sect. 4.2.2). Mental energy can be derived directly by asking users or from facial expression analysis (see Sect. 4.2.1) (Koldijk et al. 2013).

The Fishualization system has been evaluated in two trials at two different research labs (TNO, Thales) (Schavemaker et al. 2014). All trials were conducted with subjects in small research groups (about 20 employees) and with placement of the Fishualization display central at the coffee corner. Using pre- and post-test questionnaires and additional audio/video capturing using microphones and cameras different test criteria have been measured and evaluated.

We found that the Fishualization stimulates more social interaction at the coffee corner although not all new discussion is related to well-being at work. Furthermore, people are more aware of their working patterns and energy levels as well as that of others in the group. Most people find the system fun to use and have no objections against sharing aggregated data in such a way (privacy being a key factor for acceptance of employees).

### Summary of case studies in behavioral feedback and coaching

In this section we investigated three case studies of SWELL applications that provide behavioral feedback and coaching. We presented the easy-to-use mBeats app that helps to improve cardio-respiratory fitness by effectively stimulating regular physical activity in the daily life of knowledge workers. We showed the importance of combining different evaluation strategies to elicit rich feedback for mHealth app development. And we presented a group feedback display to foster interactions between co-workers and awareness of work behaviour.

### 4.4 Personalization

In this section, we follow-up on the personalization of mHealth and knowledge worker applications. We present the results of three studies addressing personalized coaching: an e-coach for tailored coaching during the work day (Sect. 4.4.1); a personalized mHealth intervention for improving cardiovascular health (Sect. 4.4.2); and personalized coaching aimed at improved self-efficacy (Sect. 4.4.3).

### 4.4.1 NiceWork: tailored lifestyle coaching during the workday

The e-coaching app NiceWork provides knowledge workers with tailored tips that support well-being at work (Wabeke et al. 2014). We used a hybrid recommender system to suggest tailored tips. The suggested tips are concrete actions that are expected to improve well-being at work.

In a study evaluating the effectiveness and usability of the NiceWork e-coach users automatically received three tips per working day on their smartphone. By recommending tailored tips, the e-coach tried to motivate knowledge workers to enhance their coping abilities and improve their recovery from coping with high demands. Users and tips were modeled in a 8-dimensional real valued vector space. Features categorize the goal type (prevention or awareness) and the type of the tip content (e.g. relaxation, time management, work-conditions and food). The user profile vectors were adapted using feedback of the users while using the app. 35 knowledge workers participated in the study. They used the e-coach in their normal work environment for 2 weeks during this study.

The study mainly focused on the effect of tailoring.<sup>5</sup> More specifically, we investigated whether tailored tips—generated by our recommendation method—had a higher chance of being followed-up by a user than tips that are not adapted to the user's preferences. It was hypothesized that tailored recommendations were followed-up more often than randomized recommendations.

The results of the study were promising, as they suggested that knowledge workers have a positive attitude towards the implemented e-coach. On the other hand, we did not find strong evidence for the effectiveness of our recommendation method, since tailored tips were followed up only slightly more often than tips that were not adapted to the user's preferences (Wabeke et al. 2014).

### 4.4.2 Personalizing activity intervention programs

Information on fitness may provide useful input to stimulate behavioral change in knowledge workers, and to design tailored activity intervention programs to the needs of each individual user. This highlights the importance of repetitive and unobtrusive assessment of the individual fitness level (Sartor et al. 2013).

Current methods to determine cardio-respiratory fitness are not suitable for everyday use. The gold standard technique to determine individual fitness level is the maximal oxygen uptake (VO2max) test. Due to the need for special equipment and supervision, this is not convenient for serial assessments. Other methods, which estimate VO2max based on heart rate using sub-maximal protocols are less accurate and impractical to be carried out independently by users (Sartor et al. 2013).

Our research focused on developing a protocol-free method to determine VO2max by context-aware data fusion using wearable sensors. We explored whether information on heart rate (HR) and acceleration from the wrist could be used to estimate fitness level without having to carry out any standard protocol. Firstly, we developed algorithms to discriminate between activity types and sport modalities to generate the proper contextual information for further interpreting motion and physiological data and assess fitness (Margarito et al. 2015). This challenge included the discrimination of wrist motion patterns for different types of activity and sports routines. Template matching strategies were applied to assess the correspondence between the wrist acceleration signal and a template base including examples for popular sports activities such as cycling, weight lifting, cross trainer exercise, rowing, running and walking.

We evaluated to what extent the classification performance of our models was robust when moving from the cross-validation setting to a natural daily life setting. The classification performance was tested on data collected in daily life using a multiplesite accelerometer augmented with an activity diary for 20 healthy subjects. Leaveone-subject-out cross validation of the training data gave a classification accuracy of 95.1±4.3%. This decreased significantly in the daily life setting to 75.6±10.4%; p <0.05. Thus, we found that cross validation of training data overestimates the accuracy

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  cf. den Akker et al. (2014) for an overview of approaches to tailoring communication.

of the classification algorithms in daily life (Bonomi 2013; Gyllensten and Bonomi 2011).

Our research led to acting upon classical limitations of typical machine learning approaches for activity classification which suffer from the poor reproducibility of laboratory accuracy in the free-living context. Once the contextual background is determined, physiological data as well as specific motion features are used to determine the fitness level of the user with an accuracy level adequate to personalize activity intervention programs and motivate users by following changes in cardio-respiratory fitness over time.

### 4.4.3 Personalization based on constructs from theories on behavioral change

Mobile health behavior change applications rarely personalize information/feedback based on constructs from behavioral change theories. Yet this is known to greatly contribute to the effectiveness of and adherence to traditional, non-mobile health behavior interventions (Free et al. 2013).

Our research into personalized behavioral change is grounded in the transtheoretical model (TTM), The TTM assumes that changing behaviour requires progress through five stages—Precontemplation, Contemplation, Preparation, Action, Maintenance and that different cognitions may be of importance at different stages. We investigated the relations between self-efficacy, stage of change, and physical activity.

A total of 325 healthy control participants and 82 patients wore an activity monitor. Participants completed a self-efficacy or stage of change questionnaire. We found that higher self-efficacy is related to higher activity levels. Patients are less active than healthy controls and show a larger drop in physical activity over the day. Patients in the 'maintenance' stage of change are more active than patients in lower stages of change, but show an equally large drop in level of physical activity. Findings suggest that coaching should at least be tailored to level of self-efficacy, stage of change, and physical activity pattern (Achterkamp et al. 2018).

Based on these findings a number tailored coaching strategies were developed. These strategies were tested in a lab study to investigate how to increase self-efficacy in mobile technology-supported physical activity interventions (Achterkamp et al. 2015). Subjects were asked to walk from A to B in exactly 14, 16 or 18 s, wearing scuba fins and a blindfold. The task guaranteed an equal level of task experience among all subjects at the start of the experiment and makes it difficult for subjects to estimate their performance accurately. This allowed us to manipulate feedback and success experience through technology-supported feedback.

We found that subjects' self-efficacy regarding the task decreases when experiencing little success and that self-efficacy regarding the task increases when experiencing success. This effect did not transfer to level of self-efficacy regarding physical activity in general. The study shows that experiencing success is a promising strategy to use in technology-supported interventions that aim at changing behavior.

### Findings on personalization and tailoring

Personalization of health interventions (e.g. lifestyle or workstyle coaching) is a vast area of study and we believe that personal, context aware adaptive coaching is a key element of a successful strategy targeting behavioral change or more efficient and effective knowledge work. In this section, we showed four examples of personalization derived from studies in the SWELL project: (i) a recommender system for health tips at work, self learning from interaction with the user (ii) recognizing the fitness level of the user and following changes in his cardio-respiratory fitness in order to personalize the interventions on physical activity; and (iii) having the user experiencing success as a strategy to make activity interventions more effective.

These examples show that personalization and tailoring are important means to maximize effectiveness of an intervention, given the differences between individuals in a target group. We also want to stress that personalization and tailoring are important to maintain effectiveness and well-being of an individual, who is changing along the way, or whose mood and motivation is influenced by contextual and personal factors. We believe that the main impact of the SWELL research line on personalization is its capacity to measure mental and physical status in context. This can be achieved with measuring working behaviour and activity using non-obtrusive sensors, as discussed in Sect. 4.2.

### **5** Discussion

SWELL has been one of the early large research projects that aimed to take ideas from the 'quantified self' movement to the workplace. Its aim was to improve well-being at work by non-intrusive activity and health status monitoring as a basis lessons learned and limitations of the project (Sect. 5.2). We first review a selection of relevant studies that were published contemporary to and after the SWELL project period 2011-2017 (Sect. 5.1).

### 5.1 Contemporary related work

A 2018 study showed that the economic costs of work-related stress to society are high, summing up to 187 billion in Europe in a rather conservative estimation (Hassard et al. 2018). The major part of the costs relate to productivity losses. This shows the continued relevance of stress reduction for society at large. The domain of mHealth apps for self-monitoring and behavioural change therefore is a growing area, for app builders as well as research.

### The Interstress project

Similarly to SWELL and contemporary with the SWELL project work, the EU FP7 project Interstress aimed at reducing stress at work. Where SWELL focused on knowledge workers as main target group, the Interstress project notably had teachers and nurses as focus groups. Like SWELL, the project experimented with unobtrusive stress sensing methods, such as Kinect 3D (Giakoumis et al. 2012). One novelty compared to SWELL is that in Interstress a stress intervention method based on virtual reality was developed and evaluated. It was investigated whether behavior in the physical world influences the experience in the virtual world and visa versa (Gaggioli et al. 2014).

### Stress in knowledge workers

The work by Alberdi et al. (2018b) evaluates predictive models for mental workload and stress, based on unobtrusively and ubiquitously gathered smart office data. They use the SWELL Knowledge Work Dataset for Stress and User Modeling Research (SWELL-KW) (see Sect. 4.1) in their study. The results show that behavioral changes for stress and mental workload levels, as well as for change in workload conditions can be well predicted, which is in line with the SWELL findings. The authors stress the importance of self-reported scores' standardization and the suitability of the NASA Task Load Index test for workload assessment. In addition, Alberdi et al. (2018b) state that methods and models are needed that "address the use of time-series statistics describing physiological and behavioral change over time" (p. 15), an aspect that had less emphasis in SWELL.

### Sensing and predicting stress

Relevant related work on the topic of sensing stress is the Autosense project by Plarre et al. (2011). The project results indicate that respiration measured by a belt is a strong predictor for measurements of physical stress (as validated in the public speaking test).

In a more recent publication, Alharthi et al. (2019) propose an acute stress prediction system. A user's stress status is predicted on basis of current contextual data (ECG signals) gathered with a smartphone. The stress prediction algorithm is adaptive and personalized, and has 78% accuracy when evaluated on ground truth data. The system is evaluated in a real-life experiment with 5 subjects who used the application between 3 and 5 days. The personalized and adaptive prediction of one stressor class, namely acute stress, is more advanced than what has been done in SWELL. On the other hand, the focus in the work by Alharthi et al. (2019) is on the specific algorithm and its evaluation, and it does not have a system perspective as SWELL. The scale of the experiment is small, so one should be careful with general conclusions.

Another small-scale study is presented by Betti et al. (2018). They implement a wearable physiological sensors system, based on ECG, EDA, and EEG, to capture human stress. The study investigates to what extent the detected changes in physiological signals correlate with changes in salivary cortisol level, which is a reliable, objective biomarker of stress. The system is evaluated with 15 participants using the Maastricht Acute Stress Test. The results of the study indicate that some physiological features clearly correlate with salivary cortisol levels, and could be used for predicting stress with 86% accuracy. The work by Betti et al. (2018) covers more detailed data analysis than has been done in SWELL, but the scope is more limited.

The work by Sarker et al. (2017) concerns a validation study to detect stress episodes in order to deliver just-in-time stress interventions. For the stress detection step, the signals of multiple wearable sensors are combined. Respiration bands are used as carrier for the sensors. The stress detection method is trained and evaluated on ground truth data collected in a lab study with validated stress inducing protocols such as public speaking and submerging a hand in ice cold water. Compared to the work by Sarker et al. (2017), the SWELL sensors are less intrusive than respiration bands. Our results indicate that posture and facial expression are important biomarkers; these are however only applicable in stationary office settings. Our study differs also in the use of the stress inducing protocol, which perhaps is more indicative of the type of stress at work. Sarker's study and our SWELL study both are challenged by the differences in time scale of EMA measurements and continuous stress measurements. Recording exact timings for stress moments is informative for analysis, but these moments may not be suitable moments for just-in-time interventions.

In line with the SWELL studies on activity recognition and stress measurement using unobtrusive wearable sensors, the paper by Smets et al. (2018) presents the results of a large-scale study in which physiological and contextual measurements were collected through wearable devices and smartphones in a free-living context. 1002 subjects participated during a period of five consecutive days. The subjects also completed questionnaires on their perceived stress, measured on the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). The results of the study shows associations between wearable physiological signals and self-reported daily-life stress. Further analysis of the collected data indicated that physiological responses to stress strongly differ among subjects, distinguishing groups with small and large dynamic ranges of the physiological features. These results confirm the need for personalized models, as expressed in the SWELL project.

### Behavioral intervention studies

Jaimes and Steele (2018) introduce an architecture for pervasive stress management and just in time intervention using smartphones and mobile sensing. They follow the same concept as in SWELL; the elements sense, reason and act are the same, but in their situation they go a step further in the sense that the reasoning part is focused on predicting a future event. The main idea of the intervention is to deliver the right intervention or the right combination of interventions, at the right time to maximize the effectiveness(i.e. reduce the frequency of the interventions) while also reducing the number of interventions. For this part they showed a probabilistic model.

Slovak et al. (2017) argue that self-tracking is only a first step in the behavioral change process for reducing stress. In a transformative learning setting, a mentor should play an active role to result in actual transformation. Choe et al. (2017) argue that pure manual or pure automatic tracking for self monitoring is not effective. They recommend a combination of manual and automatic tracking, to diminish the burden of consistent self-tracking on one hand and maintain a certain level of engagement and awareness on the other hand.

### 5.2 Lessons learned

Looking back at the original *sense–reason–act* motivation of the project, we must conclude that most of the project focus has been allocated to (i) reason, (ii) act (including personalized interventions) and (iii) non functional requirements such as addressing privacy concerns. The reasoning part focused almost entirely on the interpretation of continuous heterogeneous multi-sensor data at task level (minutes–hours), without an analysis of patterns on a longer time scale.

### Sense: Using low-cost non-intrusive sensors to inform about health/activity status

In SWELL, several studies were carried out comparing the predictive power of different modalities to monitor work activities (providing context), affect (workload, arousal), and physical activities. The keyboard and mouse interaction proved informative features to detect changes in work task. Camera observation of workers in stationary settings proved useful for the detection of stress and increased workload. Especially facial expression and posture changes were informative. Finally, accelerometry and photophletysmography embedded in wrist-worn devices and smartphones proved useful for activity recognition and VO2 max estimation. We thus conclude that non-intrusive measurement of status and activities by wearable and stationary commodity sensors is possible. However, adequate reasoning techniques are necessary to be able to interpret the data.

### Reason: mapping continuous raw sensor data to interpretable high level actions

We have gained initial evidence that self-lifelogging has the potential to improve swell-being of knowledge-workers. Our experiments with innovative ways of monitoring stress and mental efforts have revealed the potential of facial expression and posture. Although imaging technologies pose additional privacy challenges, we consider this an important result, since it is a departure of the more invasive methods based on measuring cortisol secretion or accumulation. We also found that the physical expression of stress differed across subjects. This means that interpreting raw sensor signals (such as 3D images and facial camera views) is more complex than assumed. These results also suggest that individual user models/profiles may help to improve raw sensor signals.

In addition we have shown the potential of using the smartphone array of sensors for the classification of activities. We also showed that smart watch technology can be the basis for valid measurement of cardiovascular fitness. Finally, the CIA model for context recognition and identification has shown that computer activity can be linked to higher level projects and tasks automatically. The next step is to combine all these sensing technologies together to automatically record a rich semantic summary of a work day, for the purpose of individual reflective practice. We have also gained some initial evidence that digital apps can in fact improve cardiovascular health, by focusing on the opportunities throughout the day to perform mild exercise and providing feedback about actual performance using wearable technology.

### Act: Personalized feedback for improving mental and physical well-being

Personalization is an important field in Digital Health research roadmaps as well as in digital services. Looking at the sense–reason–act framework, personalization will probably have the largest impact on the reason-act layers. From a health perspective, personalization enables a more precise diagnosis, prognosis and treatment. Tracking personal analytics through advanced sensing ideally results in a personal digital model of the person involved. A model, which is continuously updated with actual measurements. The actual reasoning (e.g. diagnosis, intervention planning etc) will most probably rely on established protocols. Personalization also has a large potential for the act/feedback/coaching step. Making use of behavioral change models to personalize coaching is important to be more effective. Especially stage of change varying from from pre-contemplation to maintenance and self efficacy are important constructs to take into account. Tailoring of this step to a specific person is a recognized theme in health communication. SWELL research showed that tailoring coaching to the level of self-efficacy and cardio-vascular fitness level is a promising strategy.

### Limitations

The project was scoped by several design choices:

- Focus on empowerment, so taking the perspective of employees, not employers.
- Focus on interdisciplinary socio-technical approach, respecting user autonomy and privacy.
- Restrict data collection to 'office hours' and workplace settings (motivated by privacy).
- Focus on component technologies, large scale evaluation of integrated prototypes out of scope.
- Focus on method/technology development, not on large scale intervention or observational study.

Especially the third decision probably restricted the data collection too severely. During the project several pilots were done with 24/7 data gathering. A large scale data collection across a longer period of time was beyond the scope of the plan, which prohibited a proper extrinsic validation of integrated apps. Still, controlled lab studies did provide initial evidence and feasibility of several of the ideas driving the project. An important factor impeding longitudinal studies was that collecting tracking data on a large scale in a real life office setting proved to be a big challenge given privacy concerns, worker regulations and security policies. A more longitudinal SWELL study (ten whole working days) was eventually conducted in the lab, without a stress inducing protocol (Brouwer et al. 2018). We found associations between experienced emotion and heart rate, facial expression, keylogging and task switches. The fine-grained EMA measurement protocol had strong adherence, showing the potential for future studies.

The fact that the project was focused on a use case of individual empowerment through reflective practice (mirroring) is probably limiting the impact of the intervention. In order to interpret self measurements, it is almost imperative to compare indicators to a larger peer population. This implies that users of the digital e-coach should eventually also contribute their (aggregated and anonimized) data in order to compute peer group averages. The topic of privacy respecting analysis has is further developed in the Personal Health Train initiative. <sup>6</sup>

It is clear that longitudinal field studies with a larger test population are needed to get better insights in the effectivenesss of pervasive well-being e-coaches. However, the regulations concerning data protection and medical ethical approval committees make it rather costly to perform such comprehensive studies. Also from a methodological point of view, it will be rather difficult to run large scale double blind RCT's with assistive technology. Another promising line of research that aligns well with the SWELL vision is to use self monitoring in a self-experimentation framework, using single case designs with randomization tests (Karkar et al. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://www.dtls.nl/fair-data/personal-health-train/.

### 6 Conclusion and future work

The SWELL project addressed the challenge of developing models and applications to improve physical and mental well-being at work and reduce information overload in a multidisciplinary setting. In this section we will revisit the research questions from the introduction.

RQ1 To what extent is it possible to recognize (**sense and classify**) physical human activities and work behavior using a combination of non-obtrusive, affordable and easy-to-obtain sensors?

We showed how we can recognize human activities and work behavior using a combination of non-obtrusive, affordable and easy-to-obtain sensors. We can distinguish thirteen different types of physical activities with reasonable accuracy using mobile phone sensors; we can recognize mental state patterns from facial expressions recorded with a webcam; and we can recognize the tasks and topics the user is involved in using the user's computer activities such as keystrokes and active applications.

RQ2 How can we design **personalized feedback and coaching** provided by mHealth applications to knowledge workers using theories of behavioral change and make these tools more context aware?

We presented an easy-to-use app that helps to improve cardio-respiratory fitness by effectively stimulating regular physical activity in the daily life of knowledge workers, and a group feedback board that successfully gives an entire team insight in their working patterns. For lifestyle coaching during the workday, we could not prove that tailoring to user preferences was more effective than generic advice, but all presented mHealth applications were judged as fun and easy to use by the subjects.

We showed three examples of how the feedback provided by mHealth applications and information systems can effectively be personalized: recognizing the fitness level of the user and following changes in his cardio-respiratory fitness in order to personalize the interventions on physical activity; having the user experiencing success as a strategy to make activity interventions more effective; and personalizing query suggestions to make professional information search more efficient.

We think the SWELL project has been a timely contribution to the multidisciplinary field of digital health apps. There is a clear tendency towards increased reliance of self-management for health issues such as chronical diseases. Digital tools can help to empower individual employees to increase insight in risk factors for reduced physical and mental health. The high prevalence levels of obesity and burn-out do underline that there is a societal challenge. Even if it is clear that digital health apps cannot solve those issues completely, they might be a suitable tool embedded in a larger intervention.

During the course of the project, several generations of smart watches and thousands of health apps have been introduced on the market. Large technology vendors and their CEO's have announced that big data approaches may have a profound impact on the health sector. It is clear that there are business opportunities, however we believe that digital health technology should serve and empower individual citizens, workers and patients in the first place.

### Future research

Of course each individual study, concisely presented in this paper gives rise to follow up questions. In this sections we list several larger open research avenues that we have identified.

- Longitudinal study. The full value of many of the described technologies can only be quantified and validated through a large scale user trial over a longer period, where interventions can have their effect and the well-known effect of declining adherence needs to be faced.
- Physical/mental/social. Although SWELL may be unique in addressing mental and physical well-being, the interaction of both dimensions has been kept outside of consideration. We believe that a study on the interaction may reveal rather interesting personal mechanisms. It might also be good to measure and model social factors.
- Privacy respecting analysis. We did find that potential users are sometimes rather reluctant to use the tracking functionality of mHealth apps, since it is unclear where the personal data is stored and who has access to the data. It is also becoming more common that data is stored in different repositories, making it difficult to learn from the combined data. Secured multiparty computation or distributed learning techniques may be of help, supporting analysis of distributed data without providing access to the original data (Veeningen et al. 2018).
- Aggregation/peer groups. If the technology permits aggregation of user behavior data at a population level and users give consent, their may very well be a larger potential for delivering the best advice. An accurate personalized prediction of a future health state for different types of lifestyles may very well be a compelling instrument for behavioural change. At the same time, people increasingly request better transparancy and explainability of such predictive models.
- Learning from feedback. Learning from feedback from the user may also be an effective method of learning an effective coaching strategy.
- Organisation versus individual. It is clear that employee and employer both have a keen interest in improving health of employees at risk. However, since their is an asymmetrical relation, it is important that collected information is only shared from employee to employer in a manner that respects legal and ethical constraints. It is both a business model and technical challenge how to design an infrastructure that both meets the constraints and creates a technology with a viable business model.

It is also clear that society and technology are moving on. Digital voice or chat assistants are becoming increasingly popular and might have potential applications for mHealth and E-health goals such as studied in SWELL. We expect that the increasing powers of AI based assistants can strengthen the reasoning component of SWELL, which needs a strong ramp up in order to realize the original vision.

Acknowledgements This publication was supported by the Dutch national program COMMIT (project P7 SWELL).

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

### References

- Achterkamp, R., Hermens, H., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M.: The influence of success experience on self-efficacy when providing feedback through technology. Comput. Hum. Behav. 52, 419–423 (2015)
- Achterkamp, R., Dekker-Van Weering, M.G., Evering, R.M., Tabak, M., Timmerman, J.G., Hermens, H.J., Vollenbroek-Hutten, M.M.: Strategies to improve effectiveness of physical activity coaching systems: development of personas for providing tailored feedback. Health Inf. J. 24, 92–102 (2018)
- Alberdi, A., Aztiria, A., Basarab, A., Cook, D.J.: Using smart offices to predict occupational stress. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 67, 13–26 (2018a)
- Alberdi, A., Aztiria, A., Basarab, A., Cook, D.J.: Using smart offices to predict occupational stress. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 67, 13–26 (2018b)
- Albrecht, D.W., Zukerman, I., Nicholson, A.E., Bud, A.: User modeling. In: Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference, UM97, Chapter Towards a Bayesian Model for Keyhole Plan Recognition in Large Domains, pp. 365–376. Springer, New York (1997)
- Alharthi, R., Alharthi, R., Guthier, B., El Saddik, A.: Casp: context-aware stress prediction system. Multimed. Tools Appl. 78, 9011–9031 (2019)
- Ardissono, L., Bosio, G.: Context-dependent awareness support in open collaboration environments. User Model. User Adapt. Interact. 22(3), 223–254 (2012)
- Bailey, J.E., Pearson, S.W.: Development of a tool for measuring and analyzing computer user satisfaction. Manag. Sci. 29(5), 530–545 (1983)
- Bakker, J., Holenderski, L., Kocielnik, R., Pechenizkiy, M., Sidorova, N.: Stress work: from measuring stress to its understanding, prediction and handling with personalized coaching. In: Proceedings of the 2nd ACM SIGHIT International Health Informatics Symposium, pp. 673–678. ACM (2012)
- Bawden, D., Robinson, L.: The dark side of information: overload, anxiety and other paradoxes and pathologies. J. Inf. Sci. 35(2), 180–191 (2009)
- Betti, S., Lova, R.M., Rovini, E., Acerbi, G., Santarelli, L., Cabiati, M., Del Ry, S., Cavallo, F.: Evaluation of an integrated system of wearable physiological sensors for stress monitoring in working environments by using biological markers. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 65(8), 1748–1758 (2018)
- Bokhove, W., Hulsebosch, B., Schoonhoven, B.V., Sappelli, M., Wouters, K.: User privacy in applications for well-being and well-working: requirements and approaches for user controlled privacy. In: Weyn, M. (ed) AMBIENT 2012: Proceedings of a Meeting Held 23–28 September 2012, Barcelona, Spain, pp. 53–59. Curran Associates, New York (2012)
- Bonomi, A.G.: Towards valid estimates of activity energy expenditure using an accelerometer: searching for a proper analytical strategy and big data. J. Appl. Physiol. 115(9), 1227–1228 (2013)
- Bosems, S., van Sinderen, M.J.: Model-driven development for user-centric well-being support: from dynamic well-being domain models to context-aware applications. In: 3rd International Conference on Model-Driven Engineering and Software Development (MODELSWARD 2015), Angers, France, pp. 425–432. SCITEPRESS (2015)
- Brouwer, A.-M., van de Water, L., Hogervorst, M., Kraaij, W., Schraagen, J.M., Hogenelst, K.: Monitoring mental state during real life office work. In: Ham, J., Spagnolli, A., Blankertz, B., Gamberini, L., Jacucci, G. (eds.) Symbiotic Interaction, pp. 18–29. Springer, Cham (2018)
- Buckley, J.P., Hedge, A., Yates, T., Copeland, R.J., Loosemore, M., Hamer, M., Bradley, G., Dunstan, D.W.: The sedentary office: an expert statement on the growing case for change towards better health and productivity. Br. J. Sports Med. 49(21), 1357–1362 (2015)
- Choe, E.K., Abdullah, S., Rabbi, E., Thomaz Epstein, D.A., Kay, M., Cordeiro, F., Abowd, G.D., Choudhury, T., Fogarty, J., Lee, B., Matthews, M., Kientz, J.A.: Semi-automated tracking: a balanced approach for self-monitoring applications. IEEE Pervasive Comput. 16(1), 74–84 (2017)
- Conner, M., Norman, P.: Predicting Health Behaviour. McGraw-Hill Education, New York (2005)
- de Korte, E., Wiezer, N., Roozeboom, M.B., Vink, P., Kraaij, W.: Behavior change techniques in mhealth applications for mental and physical health of employees. JMIR mMealth uHealth 6(10), e167 (2018a)
- de Korte, M.E., Wiezer, N., Janssen, J.H., Vink, P., Kraaij, W.: Evaluating an mhealth app for health and well-being at work: mixed-method qualitative study. JMIR mHealth uHealth **6**(3), e72 (2018b)

DellaVigna, S., Malmendier, U.: Paying not to go to the gym. Am. Econ. Rev. 96, 694-719 (2006)

- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A.B., Nachreiner, F., Schaufeli, W.B.: The job demands-resources model of burnout. J. Appl. Psychol. 86(3), 499 (2001)
- den Akker, H.O., Jones, V.M., Hermens, H.J.: Tailoring real-time physical activity coaching systems: a literature survey and model. User Model. User Adapt. Interact. 24, 351–392 (2014)
- Edmunds, A., Morris, A.: The problem of information overload in business organisations: a review of the literature. Int. J. Inf. Manag. **20**(1), 17–28 (2000)
- Fogg, B.J.: Persuasive technology: using computers to change what we think and do. Ubiquity **2002**, 5 (2002)
- Fox, K.R.: The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. Public Health Nutr. **2**(3a), 411–418 (1999)
- Free, C., Phillips, G., Galli, L., Watson, L., Felix, L., Edwards, P., Patel, V., Haines, A.: The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 10(1), e1001362 (2013)
- Gaggioli, A., Pallavicini, F., Morganti, L., Serino, S., Scaratti, C., Briguglio, M., Crifaci, G., Vetrano, N., Giulintano, A., Bernava, G., Tartarisco, G., Pioggia, G., Raspelli, S., Cipresso, P., Vigna, C., Grassi, A., Baruffi, M., Wiederhold, B., Riva, G.: Experiential virtual scenarios with real-time monitoring (interreality) for the management of psychological stress: a block randomized controlled trial. J. Med. Internet Res. 16(7), e167 (2014)
- Giakoumis, D., Drosou, A., Cipresso, P., Tzovaras, D., Hassapis, G., Gaggioli, A., Riva, G.: Using activityrelated behavioural features towards more effective automatic stress detection. PLoS ONE 7, e43571 (2012)
- Goldman, R.P., Geib, C.W., Miller, C.A.: A new model of plan recognition. In: Proceedings of the Fifteenth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, pp. 245–254. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc (1999)
- Gomez-Perez, J., Grobelnik, M., Ruiz, C., Tilly, M., Warren, P.: Using task context to achieve effective information delivery. In: Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Context, Information and Ontologies, p. 3 (2009)
- Greer, A.E., Sui, X., Maslow, A.L., Greer, B.K., Blair, S.N.: The effects of sedentary behavior on metabolic syndrome independent of physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness. J. Phys. Act. Health 12(1), 68–73 (2015)
- Gyllensten, I.C., Bonomi, A.G.: Identifying types of physical activity with a single accelerometer: evaluating laboratory-trained algorithms in daily life. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. **58**(9), 2656–2663 (2011)
- Hassard, J., Teoh, K.R., Visockaite, G., Dewe, P., Cox, T.: The cost of work-related stress to society: a systematic review. J. Occup. Health Psychol. **23**(1), 1 (2018)
- Hoepman, J.-H.: Privacy design strategies. In: Cuppens-Boulahia, N., Cuppens, F., Jajodia, S., Abou El Kalam, A., Sans, T. (eds.) ICT Systems Security and Privacy Protection, pp. 446–459. Springer, Berlin (2014)
- Hooftman, W., G.M.J. Mars, Janssen, B., de Vroome, E., Pleijers, A., Michiels, J., van den Bossche, S.: Nationale enquete arbeidsomstandigheden. Technical report (2016)
- Horvitz, E., Breese, J., Heckerman, D., Hovel, D., Rommelse, K.: The lumiere project: Bayesian user modeling for inferring the goals and needs of software users. In: Proceedings of the Fourteenth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, pp. 256–265. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc (1998)
- IJsselsteijn, W., de Kort, Y., Midden, C., Eggen, B., van den Hoven, E.: Persuasive technology for human well-being: setting the scene. In: IJsselsteijn, W.A., de Kort, Y.A.W., Midden, C., Eggen, B., van den Hoven, E. (eds.) Persuasive Technology, pp. 1–5. Springer, Berlin (2006)
- Jaimes, L., Steele, R.: Mobile stress interventions: mechanisms and implications. EAI Endorsed Trans. Pervasive Health Technol. 4, 154343 (2018)
- Kalimo, R.: Knowledge jobs-how to manage without burnout? Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 25(6), 605–609 (1999)
- Karkar, R., Jasmine, Z., Vilardaga, R., Mishra, S.R., Fogarty, J., Munson, S.A., Kientz, J.A.: A framework for self-experimentation in personalized health. J. Am. Med. Inf. Assoc. 23, 440–448 (2016)
- Kokar, M.M., Reveliotis, S.A.: Reinforcement learning: architectures and algorithms. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 8(8), 875–894 (1993)
- Koldijk, S., Sappelli, M., Neerincx, M., Kraaij, W.: Unobtrusive monitoring of knowledge workers for stress self-regulation. In: Carberry, S., Weibelzahl, S., Micarelli, A., Semeraro, G. (eds.) User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization, pp. 335–337. Springer, Berlin (2013)

- Koldijk, S., Koot, G., Neerincx, M., Kraaij, W.: Privacy and user trust in context-aware systems. In: Proceedings of the 22nd Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization, pp. 134–145. Springer (2014a)
- Koldijk, S., Sappelli, M., Verberne, S., Neerincx, M. A., and Kraaij, W.: The swell knowledge work dataset for stress and user modeling research. In: Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Multimodal Interaction, pp. 291–298. ACM (2014b)
- Koldijk, S., Bernard, J., Ruppert, T., Kohlhammer, J., Neerincx, M., Kraaij, W.: Visual analytics of work behavior data—insights on individual differences. In: Proceedings of Eurographics Conference on Visualization (EuroVis) (2015)
- Koldijk, S.: Context-aware support for stress self-management: from theory to practice. PhD thesis, Radboud University (2016)
- Koldijk, S., Neerincx, M.A., Kraaij, W.: Detecting work stress in offices by combining unobtrusive sensors. IEEE Trans. Affect. Comput. 9, 227–239 (2016)
- Lee, D.-C., Artero, E.G., Sui, X., Blair, S.N.: Review: mortality trends in the general population: the importance of cardiorespiratory fitness. J. Psychopharmacol. 24(4 suppl), 27–35 (2010)
- Maes, P.: Agents that reduce work and information overload. Commun. ACM 37(7), 30-40 (1994)
- Margarito, J., Helaoui, R., Bianchi, A., Sartor, F., Bonomi, A.: User-independent recognition of sports activities from a single wrist-worn accelerometer: a template matching based approach. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 63, 788–796 (2015)
- Matthews, R., McDonald, N.J., Trejo, L.J.: Psycho-physiological sensor techniques: an overview. In: 11th International Conference on Human Computer Interaction (HCII), pp. 22–27 (2005)
- McClelland, J.L., Rumelhart, D.E.: An interactive activation model of context effects in letter perception: I. An account of basic findings. Psychol. Rev. 88(5), 375 (1981)
- Meijman, T.F., Mulder, G., Drenth, P., Thierry, H.: Psychological aspects of workload. In: Drenth, P.J.D., Thierry, H., de Wolff, C.J. (eds.) Handbook of Work and Organizational Psychology, vol. 2. Psychology Press, Hove (1998)
- Michie, S.: Causes and management of stress at work. Occup. Environ. Med. 59(1), 67-72 (2002)
- Mokhayeri, F., Akbarzadeh-T, M.-R., Toosizadeh, S.: Mental stress detection using physiological signals based on soft computing techniques. In: 2011 18th Iranian Conference of Biomedical Engineering (ICBME), pp. 232–237. IEEE (2011)
- Natarajan, S., Bui, H.H., Tadepalli, P., Kersting, K., Wong, W.-K.: Logical hierarchical hidden Markov models for modeling user activities. In: Železný, F., Lavrač, N. (eds.) Inductive Logic Programming, pp. 192–209. Springer, Berlin (2008)
- NationaalKompas: Gezondheidsdeterminanten (2015). Retrieved 19 June 2015
- Neerincx, M.A.: Situated cognitive engineering for crew support in space. Personal Ubiquitous Comput. 15(5), 445–456 (2011)
- Neerincx, M.A., Lindenberg, J.: Situated cognitive engineering for complex task environments. In: Schraagen, J.M., Militello, L.G., Ormerod, T., Lipshitz, R. (eds.) Naturalistic Decision Making and Macrocognition, pp. 373–390. Ashgate, Burlington (2008)
- Op den Akker, H., Jones, V.M., Hermens, H.J.: Tailoring real-time physical activity coaching systems: a literature survey and model. User Model. User-Adapt. Interact. **24**(5), 351–392 (2014)
- Plarre, K., Raij, A., Hossain, S.M., Ali, A.A., Nakajima, M., Al'absi, M., Ertin, E., Kamarck, T., Kumar, S., Scott, M., Siewiorek, D., Smailagic, A., Wittmers, L.E.: Continuous inference of psychological stress from sensory measurements collected in the natural environment. In: Proceedings of the 10th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Information Processing in Sensor Networks, pp. 97–108 (2011)
- Rath, A.S., Devaurs, D., Lindstaedt, S.N.: Uico: an ontology-based user interaction context model for automatic task detection on the computer desktop. In: CIAO '09: Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Context, Information and Ontologies, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–10. ACM (2009)
- Rospo, G., Valsecchi, V., Bonomi, A.G., Thomassen, I.W., van Dantzig, S., La Torre, A., Sartor, F.: Cardiorespiratory improvements achieved by American college of sports medicine's exercise prescription implemented on a mobile app. JMIR mHealth uHealth 4(2), e77 (2016)
- Sappelli, M., Verberne, S., Koldijk, S., Kraaij, W.: Collecting a dataset of information behaviour in context. In: Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Context-Awareness in Retrieval and Recommendation (2014)
- Sappelli, M., Verberne, S., Kraaij, W.: Adapting the interactive activation model for context recognition and identification. ACM Trans. Interact. Intell. Syst. 6(3), 22:1–22:30 (2016)

- Sarker, H., Hovsepian, K., Chatterjee, S., Nahum-Shani, I., Murphy, S.A., Spring, B., Ertin, E., Al'Absi, M., Nakajima, M., Kumar, S.: From markers to interventions: the case of just-in-time stress intervention. In: Rehg, J., Murphy, S., Kumar, S. (eds.) Mobile Health, pp. 411–433. Springer, Berlin (2017)
- Sartor, F., Vernillo, G., de Morree, H.M., Bonomi, A.G., La Torre, A., Kubis, H.-P., Veicsteinas, A.: Estimation of maximal oxygen uptake via submaximal exercise testing in sports, clinical, and home settings. Sports Med. 43(9), 865–873 (2013)
- Schavemaker, J., Boertjes, E., Koldijk, S., Wiertz, L., Verberne, S., Sappelli, M., Kaptein, R.: Fishualization: a group feedback display. In: Spink, A., van den Broek, E.L., Loijens, L., Woloszynowska-Fraser, M., Noldus, L. (eds) Measuring Behavior 2014-9th International Conference on Methods and Techniques in Behavioral Research, 27–29 August 2014, Wageningen, The Netherlands (2014)
- Schön, D.A.: The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action, vol. 5126. Basic Books, New York (1983)
- Seyle, H.: Stress without distress. Vie médicale au Canada fran cais (1975)
- Shoaib, M., Scholten, H., Havinga, P.J.: Towards physical activity recognition using smartphone sensors. In: 2013 IEEE 10th International Conference on Ubiquitous Intelligence and Computing and 10th International Conference on Autonomic and Trusted Computing (UIC/ATC), pp. 80–87. IEEE (2013)
- Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Incel, O. D., Scholten, H., Havinga, P.J.: Dataset. http://ps.ewi.utwente.nl/Datasets. php (2014a). Accessed 12 June 2019
- Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Incel, O.D., Scholten, H., Havinga, P.J.: Fusion of smartphone motion sensors for physical activity recognition. Sensors 14(6), 10146–10176 (2014b)
- Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Durmaz Incel, O., Scholten, J., Havinga, P.J.: Defining a roadmap towards comparative research in online activity recognition on mobile phones. In: 5th International Conference on Pervasive and Embedded Computing and Communication Systems, PECCS 2015, pp. 154–159. SCITEPRESS–Science and Technology Publications (2015a)
- Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Incel, O.D., Scholten, H., Havinga, P.J.: A survey of online activity recognition using mobile phones. Sensors 15(1), 2059–2085 (2015b)
- Shoaib, M., Bosch, S., Scholten, H., Havinga, P.J., Incel, O.D.: Towards detection of bad habits by fusing smartphone and smartwatch sensors. In: 2015 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communication Workshops (PerCom Workshops), pp. 591–596. IEEE (2015c)
- Slovak, P., Frauenberger, C., Fitzpatrick, G.: Reflective practicum: a framework of sensitising concepts to design for transformative reflection. In: CHI 2017 (2017)
- Smets, E., Velazquez, E.R., Schiavone, G., Chakroun, I., D'Hondt, E., De Raedt, W., Cornelis, J., Janssens, O., Van Hoecke, S., Claes, S., et al.: Large-scale wearable data reveal digital phenotypes for daily-life stress detection. npj Digit. Med. 1(1), 67 (2018)
- Thomassen, I.: Collecting heart beats: exploring the effects of progress feedback as a motivational intervention to increase physical activity. Master's thesis, Technical University Eindhoven, Eindhoven (2013)
- Veeningen, M., Chatterjea, S., Horváth, A.Z., Sprindler, G., Boersma, E., van der Spek, P., van der Galiën, O., Gutteling, J., Kraaij, W., Veugen, T.: Enabling analytics on sensitive medical data with secure multi-party computation. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 247, 76–80 (2018)
- Verberne, S., Sappelli, M., Kraaij, W.: Query term suggestion in academic search. In: Proceedings of the 36th European Conference on IR Research, ECIR 2014, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 8416, pp. 560–566 (2014)
- Vosbergen, S., Mahieu, G.R., Laan, E.K., Kraaijenhagen, R.A., Jaspers, M.W., Peek, N.: Evaluating a webbased health risk assessment with tailored feedback: what does an expert focus group yield compared to a web-based end-user survey? J. Med. Internet Res. 16(1), e1 (2014)
- Wabeke, T.: Recommending tips that support well-being at work to knowledge workers. Master's thesis, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands (2014)
- Warren, P.: Personal information management: the case for an evolutionary approach. Interact. Comput. 26, 208–237 (2013)
- WHO: Preamble to the constitution of the World Health Organization as adopted by the international health conference, New York, 19–22 June, 1946; signed on 22 July 1946 by the representatives of 61 states (official records of the World Health Organization, no. 2, p. 100) and entered into force on 7 April 1948 (1948)
- Wixom, B.H., Todd, P.A.: A theoretical integration of user satisfaction and technology acceptance. Inf. Syst. Res. 16(1), 85–102 (2005)
- Wright, D.: The state of the art in privacy impact assessment. Comput. Law Secur. Rev. 28(1), 54-61 (2012)

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

**Wessel Kraaij** is full professor Applied Data Analytics at Leiden University since 2016 and principal scientist at TNO. He has a track record on making sense of unstructured data and information retrieval. Currently, he is director of the Data Science Research Programme of Leiden University. Previously, he was a professor by special appointment at Radboud university. He was PI of the SWELL project studying how quantified self technology can support workers to change towards a healthy active lifestyle. In 2017 he was awarded as 'distinguished member' of the ACM for significant contributions to computing. In 2018, he jointly received the IEEE Mark Everingham PAMI award. His current research interests include learning predictive models from distributed health data for personalized health and data driven public health interventions.

**Suzan Verberne** is an assistant professor at the Leiden Institute for Advanced Computer Science of Leiden University. She is involved in the interdisciplinary Data Science Research Programme. She obtained her PhD in 2010 on the topic of Question Answering and has since then been working on the edge of Natural Language Processing (NLP) and Information Retrieval (IR). She was involved in the SWELL project as postdoctoral researcher addressing personalized content filtering. Her current research focus is on text mining and retrieval in complex domains. She supervises projects that implement and evaluate methods in many specific domains and data types (medical, legal, science, humanities), often in collaboration with public and private partners.

Saskia Koldijk is a researcher and data dcientist at UMC Utrecht. She works in the PsyData team of the psychiatry department on Data Mining and Machine Learning solutions to improve health care. Her area of expertise is AI, Machine Learning and Visual Analytics in combination with Cognitive Psychology, Psychiatry and Behavioral Change. She started her career as a researcher at TNO and PhD student at Radboud University, followed by a more applied role at Sense Health were she developed eHealth apps.

**Elsbeth de Korte** is a Senior Research Scientist at TNO in the area of health, wellbeing and performance at work. Her research focuses on the possible effects of developments in ICT on workers' health and wellbeing; not only to identify new occupational risks, but also to anticipate changes that might impact workplace health and wellbeing. She participated as member of the European Commission Expert Working Group on mHealth Assessment Guidelines and contributed to the EU-OSHA foresight study on new and emerging occupational safety and health risks associated with ICT and work locations by 2025.

Saskia van Dantzig is a senior scientist at Philips Research in Eindhoven, The Netherlands. She obtained a PhD in psychology at the Erasmus University Rotterdam. At Philips Research, she works in multidisciplinary projects that combine psychology with technology to create innovative solutions in the health and wellbeing domain. She has studied topics such as behavior change, consumer engagement and digital health.

**Maya Sappelli** is a researcher in applied data science with a focus on text mining. She obtained her university degrees in Linguistics and Artificial Intelligence, and a Ph.D. in Computer Science at the Radboud University Nijmegen. Her research interests include Recommender Systems, Text Summarization and Personalized Health. She has worked on a wide variety of data science projects that aim to support people who work with large amounts of (textual) data.

**Muhammad Shoaib** is a data scientist at KAIOS.AI, an AI startup, where he is working on deep learning solutions for the detection and quality assessment of various road assets. Previously, he completed his master studies in parallel and distributed computer systems from the Vrije University of Amsterdam. He holds a PhD degree in Computer Science from the University of Twente where he conducted research on human activity recognition with wearable sensors in the context of the SWELL project. His current research interests include applied deep learning for computer vision and NLP problems.

**Steven Bosems** is an infrastructure and security consultant at KPN ICT Consulting and a former doctoral researcher affiliated with the Services, Cybersecurity and Safety research group of the University of Twente. His research interests include model-driven software development and model-based reasoning. In his PhD dissertation he proposed a way of modeling the domain of well-being in a way understood by both healthcare professionals and application developers, a method of semi-automatic generation of applications from these models, and a means of predicting well-being application behavior through model-based reasoning at application design time.

**Reinoud Achterkamp** is a psychologist with a specialisation in clinical neuropsychology. He is currently employed as a healthcare psychologist and researcher at Roessingh, Centre for Rehabilitation, and focuses on rehabilitation of patients with stroke and other aquired brain injury. He worked on the SWELL-project at Roessingh Research and Development and University of Twente as a full-time Ph.D.-candidate.

Alberto Bonomi is Senior Research Scientist at Philips Research Laboratories. He received a M.Sc. degree in Biomedical Engineering from Politecnico di Milano, Milan (Italy), in 2006, and the Ph.D. degree from Maastricht University, Maastricht (The Netherlands), in 2010. His research interests are related to machine learning and data analytics applied to the field of wearables sensors and physiological data interpretation.

John Schavemaker received his M.Sc. degree at the University of Amsterdam in 1994. He received his Ph.D. in 1999 at the Technical University of Delft, on the subject of "Knowledge-based image analysis applied to public-utility maps". After receiving his Ph.D., he worked for more than 15 years at the Dutch Research Institute for Applied Sciences (TNO) as scientist, technical consultant and innovator. At the moment, he works as Team Lead Computer Vision at TWNKLS—Augmented reality.

**Bob Hulsebosch** is a senior advisor, researcher, and project manager at InnoValor. He is a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) and has more than 15 years experience in IT-research and consultancy. His research interests include context aware security, privacy and internet of things, personal data sharing, and security in wireless networks.

**Thymen Wabeke** is a research engineer at SIDN Labs. He has a background in artificial intelligence and his work focusses on machine learning applications that contribute to a more robust an secure internet. Thymen's research interests include security, privacy and fairness. During the SWELL project he worked as a data scientist at TNO.

**Miriam Vollenbroek-Hutten** is head of research and innovation at ZiekenhuisGroep Twente, professor at the University of Twente on the chair Technology Supported Coaching and Training and chairman of the EIP on AHA reference site Vitaal Twente. Her research focuses on ICT supported services for diagnostics and treatment for older adults and people experiencing problems with the postural and movement system. She published over 200 peer reviewed papers. She is supervising a research staff of people with multi-disciplinary backgrounds. She has more than 15 years' experience with management of large (European) projects and coordinated two European projects. M. Vollenbroek is actively involved in the European EIP-AHA framework as coordinator of the A3 physical activity group.

**Mark Neerincx** is full professor Human-Centered Computing at the Delft University of Technology and principal scientist Perceptual and Cognitive Systems at TNO (Netherlands organisation of applied research). Recent projects focus on the situated cognitive engineering of artificial, virtual or physical, agents (ePartners) that show social, cognitive and affective behaviours to enhance performance, resilience, health and/or wellbeing. ePartner prototypes are being developed (1) for sharing situation awareness, harmonizing workload distributions and supporting stress-coping in robot-assisted disaster response teams, and (2) for learning and supporting disease self-management (e.g., chronic disease like diabetes). He has initiated and led a large number of national and international research programs and projects on these themes (e.g. in FP7, H2020, ESA, NWO, STW and ZonMw programs).

Marten van Sinderen is an associate professor at the University of Twente. His research focuses on modeldriven design of context-aware mobile infrastructures and services, and multi-level enterprise interoperability. He published over 150 research papers on these topics, and is co-author of the book Architectural Design—Conception and Specification of Interactive Systems (Springer, 2016). He was project manager of the Dutch Freeband A-MUSE project (BSIK 03025) on model-driven service design for context-aware mobile applications, and of the Dutch GenCom U-Care project (IGC0816) on user-tailorable healthcare services for the home environment. He is on the Editorial Boards of Enterprise Information Systems (Taylor & Francis) and Future Internet (MDPI), and is Associate Editor of the Journal of Industrial Information Integration (Elsevier).

### Affiliations

Wessel Kraaij<sup>1,2,3</sup> • Suzan Verberne<sup>1,3</sup> • Saskia Koldijk<sup>2,3</sup> • Elsbeth de Korte<sup>4,11</sup> · Saskia van Dantzig<sup>5</sup> · Maya Sappelli<sup>2,3</sup> • Muhammad Shoaib<sup>6</sup> · Steven Bosems<sup>6</sup> · Reinoud Achterkamp<sup>6</sup> · Alberto Bonomi<sup>5</sup> · John Schavemaker<sup>2</sup> · Bob Hulsebosch<sup>7</sup> · Thymen Wabeke<sup>2</sup> · Miriam Vollenbroek-Hutten<sup>8,9,10</sup> · Mark Neerincx<sup>2,11</sup> · Marten van Sinderen<sup>6</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> LIACS, Leiden University, Niels Bohrweg 1, Leiden, The Netherlands
- <sup>2</sup> TNO, The Hague, The Netherlands
- <sup>3</sup> Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands
- <sup>4</sup> TNO, Leiden, The Netherlands
- <sup>5</sup> Philips Research, Eindhoven, The Netherlands
- <sup>6</sup> University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
- <sup>7</sup> Innovalor, Enschede, The Netherlands
- <sup>8</sup> Ziekenhuisgroep Twente, Hengelo, The Netherlands
- <sup>9</sup> Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, The Netherlands
- <sup>10</sup> University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
- <sup>11</sup> Technical University of Delft, Delft, The Netherlands